# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC02-2172

MORRIS B. HARRIS,

v.

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791	RICHARD L. POLIN SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0230987
THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325	OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)	(305) 377-5655 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the petitioner in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or the State. Respondent, Morris B. Harris, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the respondent in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

This is a single appeal from two cases that were consolidated below. The record in 1D00-3775 consists of 13 volumes (three supplemental), three volumes of trial transcript, one volume of hearing transcript and several volumes of trial exhibits; the record in 1D00-4749 consists of one volume. These records will be referenced as follows: All references will be to Case No. 1D00-3775, with appropriate volume and page number, unless otherwise noted; the non-jury trial will be designated Tr. with a volume number (I, II or III) followed by a page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 3, 1995, Appellee was convicted pursuant to a plea, of lewd and lascivious assault on a child, and was sentenced to 15 years in prison, with eight years of the sentence suspended for probation with sexual offender counseling. I, 3-9. On May 27, 1999, the State filed a petition

- 1 -

for civil commitment pursuant to Florida's sexually violent predator (SVP) law, the Jimmy Ryce Act. I, 1.

On July 24, 2000, Appellee filed a Motion to Enforce Plea Agreement and Sentence in the 1995 criminal case, arguing that by seeking civil commitment the State had breached its plea agreement. 1D00-4749, I, 1. The motion was denied. 1D00-4749, I, 16. The order noted that Appellee was at that time serving probation. 1D00-4749, I, 17.

Respondent unsuccessfully sought review of this decision. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 766 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000). The case proceeded to a non-jury trial on August 21, 2000, at which the following evidence was adduced:

The State called a Gadsden County Sheriff's Department Detective, Sergeant David Gainous, as its first witness. He testified that Respondent was arrested after a middle school student told investigators that on one occasion Respondent had fondled her breasts and her vagina and on another had had intercourse with her. Tr. I, 71-79. The Court took judicial notice of the statement of probable cause, the judgment and the sentence in the criminal case against Respondent. Tr. I, 79-82.

Sergeant Gainous then testified concerning another allegation by an eight-year-old child that Respondent had molested her, exposing himself to her and then lying down on top of her and, apparently, ejaculating. Tr. I, 85-89. Judicial notice of the contents of the criminal file of that case also was taken. Tr. I, 88.

- 2 -

The State next called Dr. Ted Shaw, who was accepted without objection as an expert in the field of forensic psychology with a specialty in evaluation and treatment of sex offenders. Tr. II, 103. Dr. Shaw testified that he examined Respondent to evaluate him for purposes of the Florida sexually violent predator (SVP) program. Tr. II, 101-105.

Dr. Shaw testified that Respondent suffers from "paraphilia NOS" and "personality disorder NOS" and that he had "features of antisocial personality disorder." Tr. II, 105. He testified that Respondent has a mental abnormality or personality disorder, and opined that Respondent was likely to engage of acts of sexual violence if not confined to a secure facility for long-term care, control, and treatment. Tr. II, 106.

Dr. Shaw elaborated:

Well, the primary issues that I consider was his - the fact that he was convicted of a sex offense - from sex offending against one victim and subsequently reoffended with a new victim. The fact that there is a variety to his victim targets increases his risk for recidivism. The fact that both victims alleged force and violent threats. The fact that he has been deceitful and lied various times related to his offending and has remained in denial for much the time and not afforded himself of of available treatment.

Tr. II, 107. Dr. Shaw's report was entered into evidence as State's exhibit D.

The State's second witness was Dr. Alan J. Waldman, a psychiatrist, who was accepted over objection as an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry. Tr. II, 153, 157, 161. He

- 3 -

testified that he evaluated Respondent and that he reached a diagnosis of "pedophila, sexually attracted to females, nonexclusive type, basically means that he does not have exclusively sex with children." Tr. II, 167. Based on this diagnosis, he opined that Respondent met the criteria for civil commitment. Tr. II, 167.

The State rested. Tr. II, 194. Respondent's motion for directed verdict was denied. Tr. II, 208.

The Respondent called his mother as his first witness, and Eunice Harris testified that she and her son had a good relationship and that he was not in trouble with the law when he was growing up. Tr. II, 214-216. Respondent's next witness was K.R., one of the victims in the criminal cases of which the trial court had taken judicial notice. Tr. II, 218. She testified that Respondent had not molested her. Tr. II, 220. Another witness, the previous witness's aunt, testified that the purported victim had told her that it was another man, and not Respondent, who had molested her. Tr. II, 229-230.

On August 31, 2000, Judge P. Kevin Davey entered a verdict finding by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent met the criteria for civil commitment. VII, 1206. On September 7, 2000, Judge Davey entered a judgment and commitment order. VII, 1209. That same day, he entered an order denying the motion to dismiss based on the plea agreement. VII, 1211.

Respondent appealed the verdict and the denial of the motion to dismiss; the cases were consolidated. On April 26, 2002, the

- 4 -

First District Court of Appeal reversed the decision to deny the motion to dismiss, and certified to this Court the following question:

MAY THE STATE INITIATE DISCRETIONARY CIVIL COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE RYCE ACT (PART V OF CHAPTER 394, FLORIDA STATUTES) WHERE, BY SEEKING CIVIL COMMITMENT, THE STATE WOULD VIOLATE THE TERMS OF A PLEA AGREEMENT PREVIOUSLY ENTERED INTO WITH THE DEFENDANT?

<u>Harris v. State</u>, 2002 WL 731699 at \*5, (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA April 26, 2002. Upon the State's motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc

the court reaffirmed its decision, but added two more certified questions:

IS A PLEA AGREEMENT FOR PRISON TIME FOLLOWED BY PROBATION VIOLATED WHEN THE STATE LATER INITIATES DISCRETIONARY CIVIL COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE JIMMY RYCE ACT (PART V OF CHAPTER 394, FLORIDA STATUTES)?

IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES DESCRIBED IN THE FIRST QUESTION, IS THE STATE BARRED BY EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL FROM SEEKING CIVIL COMMITMENT?

2002 WL 731699 at \*11.

This appeal follows.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the trial court's order that denied Appellee's motion to enforce the plea agreement that had settled his criminal case. As this Court has recently held in <u>Murray v. Regier</u>, 2002 WL 31728885, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1008 (Fla. Dec. 5, 2002): "[A]ny bargain that a defendant may strike in a plea agreement in a criminal case would have no bearing on a subsequent involuntary civil commitment for control, care, and treatment."

The holding in Murray thus rejects the holding and rationale of the court below. Other district courts have acknowledged that under Murray a plea agreement in a criminal case has no bearing on subsequent civil commitment proceedings. These cases are part overwhelming body of decisional of an law, in other Florida, that demonstrates jurisdictions and in the incorrectness of the lower court's position.

Moreover, the opinion below inappropriately applied the doctrine of equitable estoppel, both factually and legally. Equitable estoppel should be applied rarely against the government, and in any event a plea agreement does not constitute a representation beyond the express terms of that agreement. Finally, the court below reached a result that would have strongly negative policy repercussions, which the <u>Murray</u> holding avoids.

- 6 -

The first certified question should be rephrased or ignored, inasmuch as it is unfairly phrased. The second and third certified questions should be answered in the negative.

#### ARGUMENT

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE PETITION?

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law, such as this case presents, are reviewed *de* novo.

## B. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

The trial court denied Respondent's motion to dismiss twice: once on August 16, 2000 and again after the trial, on September 7, 2000. 1D00-4749, 16; VII, 1211.

## C. THE LOWER COURT'S OPINION

The First District Court of Appeals, per Judge Ervin, reversed the trial court's decision, holding initially that the State was equitably estopped from proceeding civilly against Respondent by breaching the plea agreement. The Court interpreted the State's plea offer in the criminal case of a prison term plus sexoffender probation as a representation of Respondent's "sentence." 2002 WL 731699 at \*3. Respondent relied upon this representation, and the State then changed position when it proceeded to file a civil commitment petition against him. <u>Id.</u> The State had the discretion not to file a petition and: "In so

- 7 -

acting, it violated its own solemn agreement that appellant serve no more than a split sentence of incarceration and probation." As authority, the Court relied on <u>Santobello v. New</u> <u>York</u>, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971), wherein a prosecutor's promise not to seek any particular sentence in exchange for a plea was breached when the prosecutor recommended a maximum sentence. The only remedy that would make Respondent whole, the Court held, was "specific performance." <u>Id.</u> at \*4. The court summed up: "In our opinion, the state breached its plea agreement to allow Harris the privilege of seeking treatment as a sexual offender during the probationary period of his sentence by seeking civil commitment shortly before he had completed the incarcerative portion of his sentence." <u>Id.</u> Judge Benton concurred and published a separate opinion and Judge Polston dissented.

The Court added to its opinion upon the State's motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc. First, it noted that whether Respondent was actually on probation<sup>1</sup> was immaterial in that he was not receiving sexual offender counseling as an out-patient or through the Department of Corrections, as he had bargained for. <u>Id.</u> at 11. Moreover, if he were on probation, civil commitment would change the terms of his probation, and would violate double jeopardy. <u>Id.</u> Again, Judge Polston dissented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record was devoid of any proof as to whether Respondent was or was not on probation. It turns out, he apparently was then and still is. The Department of Corrections website, http://www.dc.state.fl.us/ActiveOffenders/, indicates that he is on active probation until May 30, 2007.

## D. MERITS

# 1. This Court Has Overruled the Rationale That Supports the Decision Below.

Case law since <u>Harris</u> has made it clear that the case was wrongly decided and was based on a premise that this court rejected in <u>Murray v. Regier</u>, 2002 WL 31728885, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1008 (Fla. Dec. 5, 2002). In that case, which is undistinguishable from <u>Harris</u>, this Court held:

Thus, we conclude that any bargain that a defendant may strike in a plea agreement in a criminal case would have no bearing on a subsequent involuntary civil commitment for control, care, and treatment.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

<u>Murray</u> and <u>Harris</u> are functionally identical. Murray was convicted of attempted sexual battery and entered into a plea wherein he would serve a prison term followed by probation. <u>Id.</u> Prior to the expiration of Murray's prison term, the State filed a petition for commitment as a sexually violent predator, and Murray first filed a motion for specific performance of the plea agreement, which was unsuccessful. <u>Id.</u> He then petitioned for a writ of habeas corpus, which, after substantial litigation in both the Fourth and Third Districts,<sup>2</sup> was denied, and he then appealed to this Court. <u>Id.</u>

This path, and the legal issues raised, are indistinguishable from what happened here. In both cases there was (one) a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Murray was convicted in Dade County but was being held in Palm Beach County.

conviction, (two) a sentence that called for probation following prison, (three) a petition for civil commitment as a sexually violent predator, and (four) a claim that the State could not proceed in the SVP proceedings because to do so would violate the plea agreement. The Harris court attempted to distinguish the Fourth District Court of Appeals' decision in Murray's case, Murray v. Kearney, 770 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000)(on reh'g) on the specious ground that the decision was "in a substantially different procedural position than the present case" in that Murray "did not raise the issue before the trial court of whether the state had violated its plea agreement; instead, he argued that the commitment was illegal, because it violated the plea agreement." 2002 WL 731699 at \*2. In other words, while the panel majority believed that it was unfair and improper for the State to seek to institutionalize a person who was on probation, the method by which the individual raised the issue was dispositive.

The Court in <u>Murray</u> acknowledged the relevance of <u>Baxstrom v.</u> <u>Herold</u>, 383 U.S. 107 (1966) to this issue. In <u>Baxstrom</u> a New York prison inmate was declared insane and was transferred to a penal facility for such inmates. As the end of his prison term neared, a petition for civil commitment was filed, but the inmate was not transferred to a civil mental hospital, but was retained at the prison facility. He filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. which was dismissed, and he appealed this decision to the Supreme Court, which held that his due process

- 10 -

rights were violated in that there had been no jury determination that he be committed, as New York law required. 383 U.S. at 108-111. In rejecting an argument put forth by the government, the Supreme Court noted: "For purposes of granting judicial review before a jury of the question whether a person is mentally ill and in need of institutionalization, there is no conceivable basis for distinguishing the commitment of a person who is nearing the end of a penal term from all other civil commitments." 383 U.S. at 111-112 (emphasis supplied). The inclusion of this language in <u>Murray</u> demonstrates that the Respondent's status as a probationer - which is vital under <u>Harris</u>; those with no probation to serve are treated differently - is meaningless under Florida law.

This clear and unequivocal language in <u>Murray</u> thus has overruled <u>Harris</u>, as the Fourth District Court of Appeal has recently recognized. In <u>Krischer v. Faris</u>, 838 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003), the Fourth District considered a State appeal from an order granting a motion to enforce a plea agreement that had called for probation after the incarcerative portion of the sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 600-601. The court reversed based on <u>Murray</u>:

Although the *Murray* decision arises from a habeas petition, it has direct application to the instant case. The Florida Supreme Court's holding that any bargain a defendant may strike in a plea agreement in a criminal case could have no bearing on a subsequent involuntary commitment under the Jimmy Ryce Act is controlling.

- 11 -

<u>Id.</u> at 603. <u>See also Satz v. Runion</u>, 838 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003) (granting certiorari petition and reversing a lower court order entered upon a motion to enforce plea agreement that dismissed an SVP petition).

Similarly, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed a trial court order denying a Ryce Act respondent's motion for specific performance of a plea agreement, relying on <u>Murray</u>. <u>Sublette v.</u> <u>State</u>, 2003 WL 1889255 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA April 17, 2003).

<u>Harris</u> and the reasoning therein have not been well-received in this State. Indeed, a subsequent opinion of the same court, while acknowledging that the panel was bound by the precedent of Harris, openly questioned the <u>Harris</u> rationale. Gentes v. State, 828 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). After accepting <u>Harris</u> as binding precedent, the unanimous panel in <u>Gentes</u> said:

> We do, however, note several matters that might be significant in the event of further review of this case.

> First, the Harris holding may not be in concert with the apparent consensus of other states finding civil commitment of sexually violent predators, under similar state laws, does not violate the terms of a plea agreement. See, e.g., In re Bailey, 317 Ill.App.3d 1072, 251 Ill.Dec. 575, 740 N.E.2d 1146 (2000) (finding a sexually violent predator proceeding is civil, not criminal and does not subject respondent to greater punishment, therefore it does not violate the plea agreement); In re Detention of Campbell, 139 Wash.2d 341, 986 P.2d 771(1999)(en banc), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1125, 121 S.Ct. 880, 148 L.Ed.2d 789 (2001) (explaining that because civil commitment is not criminal punishment, it was not a foregone conclusion that respondent would be civilly committed, thus commitment, like sex offender registration, is a collateral consequence of

pleading guilty and does not violate the plea agreement); Matter of Hay, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666 (1998) (finding the "plea agreement is immaterial as far as proceedings under the Act are concerned" where the commitment is based on a defendant's mental ailment and present dangerousness); People v. Moore, 69 Cal.App.4th 626, 81 Cal.Rptr.2d 658 (1998) (holding any commitment defendant might suffer under the sexual violent predator act would not be a direct consequence of his plea); In re Kunshier, 521 N.W.2d 880 (Minn.Ct.App.1994) (finding that county did not violate plea agreement by invoking civil commitment statute against patient because it is not criminal punishment but civil treatment).

In addition to the decisions of other states, our sister court has previously held that subsequent designation as a sexual violent predator under Florida law does not violate a plea agreement. See Collie v. State, 710 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). "[D]esignating an offender to be a sexual predator after he or she has entered a plea bargain does not constitute a breach of contract because the sexual predator designation is not a form of punishment." Id. at 1008 (emphasis added). The Second District reasoned that the object of a plea bargain is punishment, while sexual predator designation serves remedial purposes, hence the object of the plea bargain remains unchanged by a subsequent sexually violent predator designation. See id.

Second, the *Harris* majority recognizes, but is not deterred by, authority holding civil commitment of a sexually violent predator under the Jimmy Ryce Act to be a collateral consequence of the plea agreement. See, e.g., Nelson v. State, 780 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); Pearman v. State, 764 So.2d 739 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Oce v. State, 742 So.2d 464 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); Burkett v. State, 731 So.2d 695 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); Benitez v. State, 667 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996);<sup>3</sup> see also Kansas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These were not sexually violent predator cases but, rather, either sexual predator or sexual offender designation cases.

v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997) (finding it is a legitimate non-punitive state objective to take measures to restrict the freedom of the dangerously mentally ill while treating them for this illness). Those cases holding that civil commitment is not part of the criminal sentence appear persuasive on the present issue.

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