IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. **SC02-2440**

DONALD GENTES, :

Respondent. :

_____/

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT S. FRIEDMAN

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLA. BAR NO. 0500674 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The right to contract is one of the most sacrosanct rights guaranteed by our fundamental law. It is expressly guaranteed by Article I, Section 10 of the Florida

Constitution and Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 of the United States Constitution. A contract incorporates the law as it exists at the time the contract is made. A legislative enactment may not be applied retroactively if doing so would impair or destroy existing rights.

Here, the enactment of a new law, the Jimmy Ryce Act, violated the constitutional prohibition against laws impairing the right to contract. Respondent bargained for and was led to believe that in exchange for his agreement to give up certain constitutional rights, most notably, that of trial by jury, he would be released and placed on probation after serving the incarcerative portion of his sentence. The enactment of the Jimmy Ryce Act has given the State the power to unilaterally modify the terms and conditions of the agreement. This unilateral modification is not based on any conduct or changed mental condition of the Respondent but rather on the enactment of a new law in violation of Respondent's right to contract.

The First District Court of Appeal correctly held, in

Gentes v State, 828 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), following the precedent set by the First District in Harris v. State, 27 Fla. Law Weekly D946 (Fla. 1st DCA April 26, 2002), on mots. for reh'g and reh'g en banc, 27 Fla. Law Weekly D2175 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA October 4, 2002) that Respondent was entitled to specific performance of his plea agreement. In Harris, the First District reversed Mr. Harris' Final Order of Civil Commitment with directions that the plea agreement and sentence be specifically enforced. In holding that Harris was entitled to specific performance of his plea agreement, the court found that the State was equitably estopped from maintaining a position inconsistent with the position it asserted at the time of the plea agreement by the filing of a Petition for Civil Commitment, a discretionary act; the exercise of which breached the plea agreement. Here, as in Harris, Respondent entered into the plea agreement in reliance upon the prior inconsistent conduct of the State. On Rehearing, in Harris, the court denied the State's Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc. In so doing, the court rejected the State's newly asserted argument on Rehearing that Harris was on active probation while civilly committed and that therefore there was no breach of the plea agreement.

In the instant case, the State entered into an agreement

with Respondent about what would happen after his release from prison. In exchange for him agreeing to plead no contest and serve a prison sentence, the State would release and place Respondent on probation. The State waited until Respondent had completed his prison sentence and then reneged on the The State has breached its contract by having Respondent incarcerated in a prison-like setting rather than fulfilling its obligation by releasing him into the community to complete his probation. Probation means a form of community supervision and not incarceration in a prison-like setting under the guise of a civil detainee. The filing of the Petition for Commitment under the Jimmy Ryce Act is a discretionary act; the exercise of which breached the agreement. The State should be equitably estopped from maintaining a position inconsistent with its position which was entered into at the time of the plea agreement. Respondent entered into the plea agreement in reliance upon the prior inconsistent conduct of the State.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, this Court's recent decision in <u>Murray v. Reiger</u>, 27 Fla. Law Weekly S1008 (Fla. December 5, 2002) is not dispositive. The <u>Murray</u> decision concerns only two issues. The first issue defines and explains the jurisdiction of the District Court of Appeal on

original Petitions for Writs of Habeas Corpus. The second issue addressed the breadth of unlawful detention within the context of habeas corpus claims which included not only unlawful detention under state statute but detention which violates an individual's constitutional rights as well. exercising its discretion to review issues in addition to those upon which its conflict jurisdiction was invoked, this Court held that the Murray Petitioner's Habeas Corpus claim was without merit because his detention awaiting trial as a sexually violent predator was not unlawful as it did not violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy nor did it affect his rights to substantive due process of Simply stated, this Court's holding in Murray is that detention under the Jimmy Ryce Act after completion of the incarcerative portion of a plea bargain split sentence without the opportunity to commence probation is neither statutorily nor constitutionally unlawful to sustain a valid habeas corpus claim.

Absent from the <u>Murray</u> decision is any discussion about or citation to the First District Court of Appeals decisions in <u>Harris</u> and <u>Gentes</u> which was predicated upon a breach of contract and equitable estoppel theory of law. To this extent, Murray did not in effect overrule the First District

Court of Appeal's holdings in $\underline{\text{Harris}}$ and $\underline{\text{Gentes}}$.

ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN FOLLOWING THE PRECEDENT SET BY THE COURT IN HARRIS V. STATE, 27 FLA. LAW WEEKLY D946 (FLA. 1ST DCA APRIL 26, 2002), ON MOTS. FOR REH'G AND REH'G EN BANC, 27 FLA. LAW WEEKLY D2175 (FLA. 1ST DCA OCTOBER 4, 2002) WHICH HELD THAT RESPONDENT WAS ENTITLED TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF HIS PLEA AGREEMENT IN THAT THE STATE WAS EQUITABLY ESTOPPED FROM MAINTAINING A POSITION INCONSISTENT WITH THE POSITION IT ASSERTED AT THE TIME OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT BY THE FILING OF A PETITION FOR CIVIL COMMITMENT, A DISCRETIONARY ACT; THE EXERCISE OF WHICH BREACHED THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

As Petitioner correctly points out, because the issue presented in this appeal is strictly a legal one, the standard of review is de novo.

The right to contract is one of the most sacrosanct rights guaranteed by our fundamental law. Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, et al., 615 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1993) It is expressly guaranteed by Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution and Article I, Section 10, Clause 1 of the United States Constitution. A contract incorporates the law as it exists at the time the contract is made. Moreover, contracts are made in legal contemplation of the existing applicable law:

The laws which exist at the time and place of the making of a contract enter into and become a part of the contract made, as if they were expressly referred to and incorporated in its terms, including those laws which affect its construction, validity, enforcement or discharge.

Northbrook Property and Casualty Insurance Company v. R and J Crane Service, Inc., 765 So.2d 836 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Brandt v. Brandt, 525 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Southern Crane Rentals, Inc. v. City of Gainesville, 429 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) It is well settled that in the absence of an express legislative declaration that a statute have retroactive affect, the statute will be deemed to operate prospectively only, and that even a clear legislative expression of retroactivity will be ignored by the courts if the statute impairs vested rights, creates new obligations, or imposes new penalties. Alamo Rental Car, Inc. v. Mancusi, 632 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1994); State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1983)

Here, the enactment of a new law, the Jimmy Ryce Act, violated the constitutional prohibition against laws impairing the right to contract. Respondent bargained for and was led to believe that in exchange for his agreement to give up certain constitutional rights, most notably, that of trial by jury, he would be released and placed on probation after serving the incarcerative portion of his sentence. The enactment of the Jimmy Ryce Act has given the State the power to unilaterally modify the terms and conditions of the agreement. This unilateral modification is not based on any

conduct or changed mental condition of the Respondent but rather on the enactment of a new law in violation of Respondent's right to contract¹.

In the instant case, Respondent entered pleas of no contest in 1993 to five counts of lewd and lascivious assault. In accordance with the plea agreement, he was sentenced to a term of 20 years in state prison. At the end of the 20 years imprisonment, Respondent should have been released and placed on probation for 30 years. Prior to his release, however, Petitioner filed a petition in the Circuit Court for Respondent's involuntary civil commitment pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act, Chapter 394, Part V, Florida Statutes (1999). Respondent moved to enforce the plea agreement and sentence on the basis that the involuntary civil commitment proceedings under the Jimmy Ryce Act violated the terms of the plea agreement and that the State should be equitably estopped from maintaining a position inconsistent with its position which was entered into at the time of the plea agreement by the filing of a Petition for Civil Commitment, a discretionary act; the exercise of which breached the agreement.

Plea agreements are contracts governed by contract law.

¹ Here, Respondent's mental condition is a static condition, whereas, in the context of a Baker Act Commitment, for example, one's mental condition is a changed one.

"Bargained guilty pleas, then are in large part similar to a contract between society and an accused entered into on the basis of perceived mutuality of advantage." Brown v. State, 367 So. 2d 616, 622 (Fla. 1979) (quoting <u>Brady v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 397 US 742, 752 (1970)) In the instant case, the contract provided that the State would release Respondent on probation at the end of the incarcerative portion of the sentence. Respondent entered a change of plea in reliance upon the terms and conditions of the plea agreement. When a plea rests in any significant part upon a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled. When an agreement with a defendant has not been fulfilled, the defendant is entitled to specific performance of the unfilled performance or to withdrawal of the plea. Santobello v. New York, 404 US 257, 262-263, 92 S.Ct. 495, 499 (1971). In the instant case, enforcement of the plea agreement and sentence is the adequate remedy. State v. Frazier, 697 So.2d 944 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997); <u>Buffa v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 474 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994); <u>United States v. Rewis</u>, 969 F.2d 985 (11th Cir. 1992)

The filing of a Civil Commitment Petition under the Jimmy Ryce Act, under the plain language of the statute, is a discretionary act. See, Section 394.9135(3) and 394.914,

Florida Statutes (1999)² Thus, under the plain language of the statute, the State Attorney may file a petition; not shall file a petition. In the instant case, the State is making a discretionary decision that is tantamount to its reneging on its plea agreement. This is true because the recommendations of the Multi-disciplinary Team and the Department of Children and Families are not binding on the State. See, Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, Committee on Children and Families CF/SB 2192 (March 30, 1999) p.5 ("Regardless of what is actually recommended by the multi-disciplinary team, the State Attorney always makes the final determination as to whether a petition to civilly commit a person will be filed.")

The doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes the State from breaching the terms of a plea agreement and entitles Respondent to enforcement of the plea agreement and sentence.

² 394.9135(3) provides in pertinent part, within 48 hours after receipt of the written assessment of recommendation from the multi-disciplinary team, the State Attorney, as designated in section 394.913, may file a petition with the Circuit Court alleging that the person is a Sexually Violent Predator and stating facts sufficient to support such an allegation. Section 394.914 provides in pertinent part: Following receipt of the written assessment of recommendation from the multi-disciplinary team, the State Attorney, in accordance of section 394.913, may file a petition with the Circuit Court alleging that the person is a sexually violent predator and stating facts sufficient to support such an allegation. (emphasis added)

The doctrine of equitable estoppel is based on public policy and is designed to promote justice. It may be applied when representation of one party reasonably leads another to believe in a certain state of affairs and in reliance on such representations the latter changes his position to his detriment. In short, equitable estoppel precludes a person from maintaining a position inconsistent with another position which was asserted at a previous time. The elements necessary to establish an equitable estoppel are 1. A representation as to a material fact that is contrary to a later asserted position, 2. Reliance on that representation and 3. A change in position detrimental to the party claiming estoppel caused by the representation and reliance thereon. Mandarin Paints and Flooring Inc. v. Potura Coatings of Jacksonville, Inc., 744 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). One seeking to invoke the doctrine of equitable estoppel against the government first must establish the above elements of estoppel and then show that the government's act will cause serious injustice and that imposition of estoppel will not unduly harm the pubic interest. Alachua Co. v. Cheshire, 603 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

In the instant case, pursuant to the plea agreement, the State represented to Respondent that in exchange for his

change of plea that he would be released on probation after he served the incarcerative portion of the sentence. Respondent relied upon the representation in changing his plea. Now the State seeks to change its position by filing a Petition for Involuntary Civil Commitment to Respondent's detriment and keep him incarcerated indefinitely under the guise of a civil detainee in a prison-like setting. The action taken by the State is a serious injustice to Respondent and an estoppel will not unduly harm the public interest because Respondent would be released on probation and if he failed to abide by the terms or conditions of his probation as set forth in the plea agreement, he would again be subject to a prison sentence.

In short, the State reneged on its plea agreement with Respondent. The State agreed to release Respondent on probation after he served the incarcerative portion of his sentence. The State then breached that agreement by filing the Petition for Civil Commitment. Had Respondent been released on probation after serving his incarcerative portion of the sentence as relied upon by him at the time he entered his change of plea, the State would have been precluded from filing a Petition for Civil Commitment because Respondent would not have been in custody which is a jurisdictional

prerequisite for the filing of a petition under the Jimmy Ryce Act. State v. Atkinson, 831 So.2d 172 (Fla. 2002); State v. Siddal, 772 So.2d 555 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000)

Petitioner's argument that Respondent is on active probation via its hearsay reference and subsequent remedial reference to the Department of Corrections website is unavailing. (PB 19-20) Probation means a form of community supervision and not incarceration in a prison-like setting under the quise of a civil detainee. Section 948.001(5), Florida Statutes (1995) In the instant case, the First District correctly followed the precedent set by the court in <u>Harris v. State</u>, 27 Fla. Law Weekly D946 (Fla. 1st DCA April 26, 2002), on mots. for reh'q and reh'q en banc, 27 Fla. Law Weekly D2175 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA October 4, 2002) In <u>Harris</u>, the First District reversed Harris' Final Order of Civil Commitment with directions that the plea agreement and sentence be specifically enforced. Harris was entitled to specific performance of his plea agreement. The court found that the State was equitably estopped from maintaining a position inconsistent with the position it asserted at the time of the plea agreement by the filing of a Petition for Civil Commitment, a discretionary act; the exercise of which breached the plea agreement. Here, as in Harris, Respondent

entered into the plea agreement in reliance upon the prior inconsistent conduct of the State. On Rehearing, in Harris, the court denied the State's Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc. In so doing, the court rejected the State's newly asserted argument on Rehearing that Harris was on active probation while civilly committed and that therefore there was no breach of the plea agreement.

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